IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND MORRISON, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHET KAUFMAN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
FLORIDA BAR NO. 814253

CASE NO 94,666

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

			PAGI	Ξ(S)
TABLE	OF (CONTENTS		. i
TABLE	OF A	AUTHORITIES		iv
PRELI	MINA	RY STATEMENT AND TYPEFACE CERTIFICATE		. 1
STATE	MENT	OF THE CASE		. 1
STATE	MENT	OF THE FACTS		. 4
I.	Guilt	<u>t Phase</u>		. 4
	A.	Before the murder		. 4
	В.	The homicide and crime scene		. 6
	c.	After the murder		. 8

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 23, 1997, a grand jury of the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, issued an indictment against appellant Raymond Morrison, Jr. Count I charged first-degree murder of Albert Dwelle by stabbing or cutting, alternatively as premeditated murder or felony murder committed during the course of a robbery or burglary. Count II

charged armed robbery upon Albert Dwelle with a deadly weapon, i.e., a knife. Count III charged burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit a battery, with an assault or battery on Albert Dwelle. All counts were based on one brief, spontaneous episode alleged to have occurred on January 8, 1997, in Duval County. See V1R7-9.

A jury trial convened on Monday, September 21, 1998.

See V11T1. Morrison moved for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case and again at the close of the defense's case. Both motions were summarily denied. See V15T822-23, V15T932. On September 25, 1998, the jury found Morrison guilty as charged. See V16T1061-64, V6R983-84. The court orally adjudicated him guilty. See V16T1068.

Penalty proceedings before the same jury convened on October 8, 1998. See V16T1116. The jury returned a recommendation of death by the vote of 12-0. See V17T1307-10, V6R1058. A sentencing proceeding before the judge followed on November 12, 1998, see V10R1648, at which time the court summarily denied Morrison's motion for a new trial, see V10R1648-49, V6R990-95.

Sentencing took place on December 18, 1998. The court again orally adjudicated Morrison guilty on all counts. See V10R1675-76. Without orally stating any findings in aggravation or mitigation, the court sentenced Morrison to death on Count I, announcing that it was contemporaneously filing a sentencing order. See V10R1676. On Counts II and III the court found Morrison to be a habitual violent felony offender and sentenced him on each count to life imprisonment including a minimum

mandatory term of 15 years. <u>See</u> V10R1676-77. The court ordered each sentence to be served consecutively. The court also imposed \$253 in court costs, and gave Morrison 707 days credit for time served. <u>See</u> V10R1677.

The court filed its written judgment and sentence on December 18, 1998, including a sentencing order enumerating its findings as to the death sentence. <u>See</u> V7R1170-94. The court found five aggravating circumstances but said it weighed four:

- Prior violent felony for a 1988 conviction of attempted robbery and a 1991 conviction of aggravated battery, given "great weight," see V7R1181;
- The murder was committed during a robbery and burglary with assault, given "great weight," <u>see</u> V7R1181-82;
- Pecuniary gain, which had no weight because it merged with the murder committed during a robbery aggravator, see V7R1182;
- The murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel, given "great weight," <u>see</u> V7R1182-83; and
- The victim was particularly vulnerable due to advanced age and disability, given "great weight," see V7R1183-84.

The court found no statutory mitigating circumstances.

<u>See V17R1184</u>. However, the court found and weighed eight nonstatutory mitigators:

- Good jail conduct in that Morrison presented no danger to the police when arrested, cooperated with the police during his detention, and led police to the murder weapon, given "some weight," see V7R1185;
- There will be no parole or other release from prison from a life sentence for first-degree murder, given "some weight," see V7R1185;
- Morrison cooperated with the police, given "some weight," see V7R1185;
- Morrison had an alcohol and/or drug abuse problem, i.e., abused alcohol and cocaine and most likely used the

robbery proceeds to purchase more alcohol and cocaine, accorded "some weight," see V7R1186;

- Morrison was employed, accorded "some weight," see
 V7R1186;
- Morrison has only borderline intellectual ability, and when combined with alcohol and drug abuse, it results in bad judgment, accorded "great weight," see V7R1186;
- Morrison has a positive family background and character. While living with his mother, grandmother, and young siblings, at an early age, he assumed responsibility for the overall operation of the home, which in turn contributed to his lack of formal education. He also was helpful to neighbors, had some beneficial contact with his children and other children, and advised his siblings to conduct themselves properly. This was accorded "some weight," see V7R1187; and
- Morrison has adjusted well while incarcerated, albeit with a record of an escape conviction, given some weight, see V7R1187.

The court rejected five nonstatutory mitigators:

- Morrison did not clearly intend to kill the victim, <u>see</u> V7R1184;
- The victim was unconscious and/or did not suffer for any lengthy period of time, see V7R1184-85;
- Morrison has shown sincere remorse, see V7R1185;
- Morrison had a deprived early childhood due in part to his father's absence from the home, see V7R1185-86; and
- Morrison's father and brother were in prison, <u>see</u> V7R1186.

Morrison timely filed a notice of appeal on December 28, 1998. See V7R1197.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. <u>Guilt Phase</u>

A. Before the murder

¹ The escape was for walking off a furlough. <u>See</u> V16T1103.

In January 1997, Albert Dwelle, 81 or 82, was living in Apt. 64 of the Ramona Apartments in Jacksonville. See V12T369, V12T391-94. He lived across from Apt. 68, in which resided Sandra Brown, a former girlfriend of Raymond Morrison Jr., and the mother of Morrison's five-year-old son. See V12T389-94. Dwelle suffered physical disabilities stemming from illnesses, some dating back to his childhood. He had diminished use of his left arm and right leg, and could not easily walk. See V12T370, V13T415-16, V13T433-36, V14T788-89, V15T804.

Dwelle went to the bank once a month to cash a check, and to the post office to make get a money order to pay his rent. <u>See</u> V12T369-70. He last did this on January 7, 1997, cashing a check for a little over \$400. <u>See</u> V12T373-76. Dwelle often put money in his shirt pocket, <u>see</u> V12T376, and generally kept cash and two or three uncashed social security checks in the top drawer of his chest of drawers in his apartment bedroom, <u>see</u> V12T372-74, V12T386-87.

Dwelle collected old coins and silver medallions (fake currency), and gave some of the medallions to his cousin, William Daniel Brinson, Sr. See V12T372-73, V12T384-85, V12T379-81. Dwelle also collected old hunting knives, which he kept on a night stand by his bed, and on his bed. He smoked a pipe and used the knives to clean out his pipes. See V12T377.

Brinson last saw Dwelle at the apartment on January 7, when they returned from the post office. <u>See</u> V12T373-74. Brinson saw Dwelle reach into his shirt pocket to pull out some money and place it in the top chest of drawers. <u>See</u> V12T373-74. Brinson

had handled Dwelle's knives in the past, and that day he handled one with a black handle that looked like a hunting knife with a corkscrew on the side. See V12T378-79.

Lunches were regularly brought to Dwelle's home through the meals-on-wheels program, and they had to be put on the kitchen table for him. See V12T370-71, V13T413-15, V13T422-24, V13T434-35. He routinely left the door unlocked so that at about 11:30-11:45 a.m. the delivery person could walk in. See V13T413-18, V13T423-29. Occasionally a little boy from across the hall would walk into the unlocked apartment. Dwelle would give him fruit or cake, and the boy would leave. See V13T435-36.

B. The homicide and the crime scene

On Wednesday, January 8, Dannette Jackson delivered a meal to Dwelle without event. <u>See</u> V13T426-28. When Margaret Annette Key delivered Dwelle's lunch on Thursday, January 9, at about 11:35 a.m., she found the door unlocked and closed as usual. Inside, she discovered some of the previous day's meal sitting on the table, and Dwelle lying on the bedroom floor, dead. <u>See</u> V13T431-38. Dwelle had bled to death as the result of sharp force injuries, including stab and incise wounds about the neck area. <u>See</u> V15T809.

By the time police came to investigate, many people had already been in and out of the apartment since the murder, including firemen, maintenance men, meals-on-wheels personnel, and someone from the apartment complex. Officers found no broken windows, broken door jambs, or broken doors, and there was no sign of forced entry. See V13T548-49, V14T614.

Officers saw a shirt hanging on a chair with the pocket of the shirt open but empty. Over objection, Detective Terry C. Short said it appeared that something had been taken out of the pocket. See V13T553. Officers also saw knives scattered around the apartment, including a wooden-handled knife on the bed next to some knife sheaths; a couple of identification cards on the floor next to Dwelle; a number of pipes and pipe cleaners; a large bloody bath towel lying next to the victim; a coffee jar on the floor near the victim; a cigar tube; a 9-volt battery; an ID holder in Dwelle's shirt; a plastic wrap on a chair close to where Dwelle had sat; and an uncashed U.S. Treasury check for \$470 as well as other papers in the top drawer of Dwelle's dresser. See V13T441-45, V13T481, V13T553-54, V14T607, V14T615-17. When police tested the items for fingerprints, they found no identifiable prints, only smudges. See V13T441-45, V13T462-64. However, police did not collect all the items for testing, did not examine evidence in other rooms, and did not use all available methods of testing the items they did recover. See V13T487, V13T475, V14T619-30.

Blood was found only in the area by the victim's body, and no blood was observed on any of the knives found in the room.

See V13T555. Police used a dust electrostatic lifting kit (DELK) test and found a partial footprint not belonging to Morrison, but regarded that evidence as useless because police failed to check the feet of the many people who contaminated the crime scene.

See V13T475-76, V13T485-86, V13T548, V14T630-32, V14T659. No physical evidence at the scene could be linked to Morrison. See

V14T633.

At some point after the murder, Brinson returned to clean out the apartment. He found no cash money or silver coins or medallions other than a round keg containing pennies, nickels, dimes, etc., which Detective Short had found. See V12T383-85.

C. After the murder

Police talked to Dwelle's neighbor, Sandra Brown, who is Morrison's former girlfriend. Police brought her down to the station for interrogation after advising her of her Miranda² rights. Though Brown was a key prosecution witness, evidence showed that she had a reputation in the community as a "big liar." V15T912. Brown also admitted she had a fight with Morrison's mother, Georgia Bell Morrison, in 1993. Brown further alleged that Mrs. Morrison had "said a little stuff to me" before testifying. Brown denied ever cutting Mrs. Morrison.

See V13T410-11, V14T635-38.

Brown said she had been living in Apt. 68, across from Dwelle, whom she had seen but did not know. <u>See</u> V12T390-94. On Wednesday, January 8, she had been babysitting for Morrison's sister, Paula. Morrison, who did not live with Brown, had been at Brown's apartment all day. Her uncle Johnny Lee also came by. <u>See</u> V12T394-95, V13T405.

Some time between 8:00-9:00 p.m. Brown and Morrison went out and bought three four-packs of tall beers. Upon their return, Johnny Lee drank two or three, she had three or four, and

² <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Morrison drank two or three "tall boys." Other than the time they went for beers, Morrison had not left her apartment that day. See V12T396-97, V13T406-08.

At a time she could not pinpoint, her uncle left. Morrison put two steaks in the oven, seasoned them, turned the oven on, and said he was going to empty the trash and return. Brown said she saw him leave to empty the trash but he did not return. When he didn't come right back, she looked out the window through which she could see the dumpster, but she did not see him. About 10-20 minutes after he left, she went out looking for him.

See V12T396-99, V13T406. First she ran into a friend, Carla. Then she went to the home of somebody she knew as "Big Man," who lived around the corner from her apartment, but she did not find Morrison there. See V12T399-V13T402.

The next time she saw Morrison was Friday morning in the Jacksonville community called Marietta. He was coming out of somebody's yard and crossing the street. She hollered out his name loud enough for him to hear, but he kept walking. He looked back but did not stop. See V13T403-04.

Harry J. Hills, who had fathered children with Morrison's mother (but is not Morrison's father), saw Morrison some morning, possibly Thursday, January 9, or Friday, January 10, in Marietta. He was unsure of the date and couldn't even remember if it was before or after Morrison's arrest. Hills said Morrison came up to him and asked him if he wanted to buy three or four coins that looked like silver dollars, but Hills declined. See V13T491-93, V13T503-07. However, Hills couldn't identify the coins, and when

shown what the State purported to be similar coins possessed by Brinson, Hills was unable to say they were of the same type as the ones Morrison possessed. See V13T493-500.

Delores Tims, who knows Morrison, saw Morrison and Hills together the day after news flashed about Dwelle's death. She did not say what day she saw that news report. Morrison had a bag in his hands, similar to a Crown Royal liquor bag. He was trying to sell Hills something, but she did not know what it was. See V14T716-21.

D. Morrison's statements and evidence introduced over objection pursuant to the court's pretrial suppression order

On January 9, Pastor/Officer Antonio Richardson interviewed some individuals at the Ramona Apartments after Dwelle's death. Detective Short told Richardson on January 10 to arrest Morrison on an outstanding writ of attachment arising from a civil custody dispute, but to bring him in for questioning on the homicide.

See V15T508-14, V13T531-34.

Thereafter, Morrison made statements, almost all of which were subjects of a pretrial suppression motion. Physical evidence flowing from the statements also was subjected to a pretrial suppression motion. The court denied the motions for the most part. See V5R796-816, V2R335, V9R1482. Throughout the guilt phase Morrison renewed his objections, but the evidence came in over objection. See V13T574-75, V13T520-23, V13T582, V14T603-05. To avoid needless duplication, that evidence is detailed later in Issue V, as it arose in the suppression hearing. See infra at 56. However, here is the text of

Morrison's written statement seen by jurors:

On Wednesday 01-08-97 at approximately 9:00 PM I had been smoking crack with Big Man. I ran out of crack and had no money. I went to Apt. 68 and sat on the steps. I was drinking a beer. I wanted a cigar. I knocked on the door of Apt. #64. The man came to the door and I ask him for a cigar. He started telling me he couldn't let me come in. I ask for a light for the cigar he gave me. He went back into his bed room to get me a light. I follow him to the bed room. He reached into his shirt pocket hanging on a chair by the bed and handed me a light. I put the lighter back on the chair. I saw money in the shirt pocket. I reached over and grabbed a few bills out of his shirt pocket. He saw me take the money. He got a knife from somewhere and began swinging it at me. I tried to grab him to defend myself and also not to hurt him. I grabbed him by the arm and turned him around so he was facing away from me. He was thrusting the knife back over his shoulders at me. I was holding his right arm and he was still thrashing the knife trying to cut me. While he was trying to cut me the knife accidentally cut across his throat. I didn't know at the time that it had cut him. I was still holding him and he got even wilder thrusting the knife and I guess he got cut again. That's when I saw he was cut.

I laid him down on the floor and picked up the knife. I left the apartment and went to another part of the complex where I hid the knife under a brick.

I then went to Big Mans house and got him to take me to the Chevron. We got gas and he took me to Marietta. When we got to Marietta I bought some drugs with the money I took from the old man. I then went back to Ramona Park where Big Man dropped me off and he went home. I saw my uncle Cap and I got in the car with him. I stayed with Cap until Friday morning and continued smoking dope and drinking till then.

Police picked me up Friday after noon.

V2R374-75, see also V13T582-90.

Richardson and Short said that after giving the written statement, Morrison showed detectives where the knife was located. Until that time officers had no knowledge of the knife or its location. Officers went out with Morrison and retrieved the knife near unit 18 of the Ramona apartments, near where "Big Man" lived. Once Morrison pointed to the knife, it appeared to

be in plain view, not hidden. <u>See</u> V13T525-28, V13T590-94, V14T655-56, V14T739-45.

E. Forensic and scientific evidence introduced at trial

The knife found by the Ramona Apartments contained evidence of blood, but the sample was insufficient to determine whether it was of human origin. See V14T737-38. No identifiable fingerprints were found on that knife. See V14T724-25.

A PCR DNA test, which is a less discriminating test than the RFLP DNA test, was conducted on the knife by FDLE serology analyst Diane Hanson. She concluded that the blood was consistent in all six genetic markers with those in the blood of Albert Dwelle. See V14T764. Dr. Martin Tracey, a population geneticist, agreed and said the six characteristics found in Dwelle's blood, when compared to samples in a Caucasian population data base, occur in approximately one out of every 3,200 persons. See V14T689-91, V14T699-701; see also V14T765-66. However, it cannot be said that the blood on the knife was "absolutely, positively" from the victim. See V14T691. Moreover, the prosecution's experts did not use the more discriminating RFLP DNA test. See V14T694.

FDLE examiners also tested the blood on the towel found near Dwelle's body, and saliva on the Styrofoam cup Detective Short took from Morrison during his interrogation. See V13T595-96, V14T733. Hanson concluded that the blood sample obtained from the towel, like that taken from the knife, was consistent in all six genetic markers with the blood of Albert Dwelle. The DNA on the cup could not have come from Dwelle. See V14T764.

Margarita Aruzza, a forensic pathologist for the medical examiner's office in Jacksonville, performed the autopsy on the victim. See V14T784-85. Dwelle's neck suffered a long incise wound (a cut inflicted with a sharp object) and a superficial incise wound; a stab wound; and some bruising and abrasions.

See V14T786-91, V15T803-06, V15T815. The long incise wound goes from left to right, and was shallow, not cutting either the jugular vein or carotid artery. The stab wound was on the left side and was deep and long, measuring 4% inches. See V15T105-07, V15T810-11. It would not have taken much force to cause the abrasion found on Dwelle's neck. See V15T817. Aruzza could not determine when or in what order the wounds were inflicted.

See V15T815-16.

Dwelle also had superficial bruising and abrasions on the right arm, elbow, and hand, and a laceration on the right hand.

See V14T786-88, V15T803-04. He had a little bruising and scrapes of the left elbow. See V14T787-88. He had abrasions on the chest. See V15T805. He had minor bruising on the right eyebrow extending to the eyelid. See V15T803. All the injuries are recent and are consistent with having been inflicted on or about the same time within 24 hours before death. See V14T803-04.

There were only minimal signs of struggle. See V15T817-18.

The neck bruises are consistent with having been held from behind. See V15T805. The incise wound more likely was inflicted from behind. The stab would could have come from the front or from behind. Aligning the wounds suggested to Aruzza that the victim's head was turned toward the left and was in a headlock.

Aruzza concluded that Dwelle died of sharp force injuries combined with the stab wound. He probably aspirated blood, some of which got into his lungs. Bleeding and aspirating combined to cause death. See V15T808-10. Any knife, including the one recovered near the Ramona Apartments, could have caused the fatal injuries. See V15T814. Aruzza was unable to ascertain how long Dwelle lived after the injuries were inflicted. However, Dwelle would have lost consciousness as his blood pressure started to drop and the blood aspirated into his lungs. See V15T820.

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