IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND MORRISON, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 94,666

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Here, Morrison complains about two rulings by the trial court sustaining a state's objection to testimony.

In the first instance, Morrison contends the court erred in sustaining the state's objection to a defense question posed to Sandra Brown, who was the father of Morrison's child and who lived across the hall from the victim. Defense counsel had already established on cross-examination that police had talked to her at her apartment and then "downtown," and that upon being brought to station, detectives had advised her of the police her constitutional rights (V13T405-06, 411). The question to which the objection was sustained was: "Police ever tell you, ma'am, that when your were brought down and read your rights, detective ever tell you that he didn't believe you had nothing to do with this?" (V13T411). Morrison argues now that the purpose of this question was to attack Brown's credibility by implying that Brown herself had been a suspect and had in interest in deflecting suspicion away

below-average intelligence, to the effect that everybody has to answer to God for what they did and how did the defendant think he would answer to God for his acts, did not render subsequent confession inadmissible. <u>State v. Adams</u>, 703 P.2d 510 (Arizona Appeals 1985).

from herself. Initial Brief of Appellant at 83. If this was the purpose, however, it was not the question defense counsel asked; counsel did not ask Brown if she considered herself a suspect, or even if she considered herself a suspect based on what police had told her; instead, he asked a question which, on its face, attempted to elicit the hearsay statement of a third party. Morrison has not shown that he was in any way prevented from establishing properly that Brown considered herself a suspect for any reason. Moreover, Morrison had the opportunity to pursue this subject with Detective Morrison, so any possible error is harmless.¹³

In the second instance, Morrison complains of the exclusion of Delores Tims' testimony as to whether or not Sandra Brown was truthful. The trial court excluded such testimony because, in the court's view of her proffered testimony, she was basing her conclusion on her own personal experience of having caught Brown in a lie on one occasion rather than on Brown's reputation in the community. Morrison concedes that this Court has "made clear that specific acts of lying is [sic] inadmissible for impeachment while general reputation for lack of truthfulness is admissible." Initial Brief of Appellant at 88. However, he argues that the

¹³ Detective Short testified on cross-examination that he had Mirandized Brown both at the apartment and at the police station; although he did not "really see her as a suspect," he did feel that she might have some knowledge of the crime or could "possibly have played a role in it.

trial court's finding is not supported by the record, which, he contends, shows that in fact Tims had two bases for her conclusion, her personal experience *and* her knowledge of Brown's reputation in the community.

It is true that Tims initially seemed to be saying that her testimony was based on her knowledge of Brown's reputation in the community. However, when questioned about her knowledge of Brown's reputation, Tims talked only about her own experience with Brown. From the proffer as a whole, the trial court was justified in concluding that Tims really did not know Brown's reputation in the community and was testifying only about a specific act of lying with which Tims was personally familiar. Furthermore, even if the court's ruling were error, any error was harmless because Tims' testimony would have been cumulative to that presented by Georgia Bell Morrison, who testified that she knew Brown's testimony in the community for truthfulness and that reputation was that she "is a big liar" (V15T912).¹⁴

Morrison has not shown any abuse of discretion in the trial court's evidentiary rulings at issue here. <u>Asay v. State</u>, No. SC90963 (Fla. June 29, 2000); <u>Kearse v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 677, 684 (Fla. 1995); <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 452 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1984).

¹⁴ In addition, while Brown's testimony was not unimportant, it was hardly the most incriminating evidence presented by the State.

<u>ISSUE VII</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MORRISON'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO FIRST DEGREE MURDER

At the close of the state's case, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal on all counts. He argued that there was no evidence of a nonconsensual entry and no evidence that Morrison had taken anything (V15T822-23). As for premeditation, defense counsel stated only that the state had not "shown [a] prima facie case of any kind of premeditation" (V15T823). At the close of the evidence, defense counsel renewed the motion for judgment of acquittal, without adding anything to what he had already stated (V15T932). Morrison argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal as to murder and burglary.

In <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1997) this Court noted:

We have repeatedly reaffirmed the general rule established in <u>Lynch v. State</u>, 293 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1974) that:

> [C]ourts should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless the evidence is such that no view which the jury may lawfully take of it favorable to the opposite party can be sustained under the law.

<u>Id</u>. at 45; <u>see Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 118 S.Ct. 345, 139 L.Ed.2d 267 (1997); <u>Barwick v.</u> <u>State</u>, 660 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1995); <u>DeAngelo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 616 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1993); <u>Taylor v.</u> <u>State</u>, 583 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1991).

Gordon, supra at 112. Furthermore:

"A judgment of conviction comes to this Court with a presumption of correctness and a defendant's claim of insufficiency of the evidence cannot prevail where there is substantial and competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment." <u>Terry v. State</u>, 668 So.2d 954, 964 (Fla. 1996). The fact that the evidence is contradictory does not warrant a judgment of acquittal since the weight of the evidence and the witnesses' credibility are questions solely for the jury. Davis v. <u>State</u>, 425 So.2d 654, 655 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); see generally Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974) (holding that where reasonable minds may differ as to proof of ultimate fact, courts should submit case to jury). It is not this Court's function to retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to the trier of fact. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981), affirmed, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982).

Donaldson v. State, 723 So.2d 177, 182 (Fla. 1998).

Applying these principles to this case, it is clear that the trial court properly denied the motions for judgments of acquittal.

Morrison first contends the evidence is insufficient to show premeditation because the killing was "spontaneous," and because the most serious injury "was not even deep enough to sever major blood vessels. Initial Brief of Appellant at 89-90.

Premeditation of course involves "a prior intention to do the act in question." <u>Lowe v. State</u>, 105 So. 829, 831 (Fla. 1925). Without such prior intention on the part of the killer, the killing is not premeditated murder. It is well settled, however, that it is not necessary "that this intention should have been conceived

for any particular period of time. . . It is sufficient if the prisoner deliberately determined to kill before inflicting the mortal wound. If there was such purpose deliberately formed, the interval, if only a moment before its execution, is immaterial." <u>Ibid</u>. "Premeditation need only exist for such time as will allow the accused to be conscious of the nature of the act the accused is about to commit and the probable result of the act." <u>Buckner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 714 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1998).

Inherently, premeditation cannot be proved by third-party direct evidence. A defendant's "mental conception lies beyond the scrutiny of exact observation" by others. Lowe, supra. The defendant is the only eyewitness to his own mental processes; therefore, only the defendant's own statements can provide direct evidence of premeditation. Thus, if the defendant does not confess, "circumstantial evidence [is] the only medium of proof available" to the State by which it can prove premeditation. Rvan v. State, 92 So. 571, 572 (Fla. 1922). It is well settled, however, that the "character of the homicide and the element of premeditation may by proved by circumstantial evidence; the jury being privilege to infer the existence of premeditation and the unlawful character of the homicide from the evidence submitted as they may infer the existence of any other material element in a criminal charge." Ibid. See also, Barnhill v. State, 48 So. 251, 257 (Fla. 1908) ("The human mind acts with celerity which it is

sometimes impossible to measure. Whether a premeditated design to kill was formed must be determined by the jury from all the circumstances of the case.").

Furthermore, the jury is not required to completely accept the defendant's statements about the crime, even though those statements may provide the only direct evidence of his intent. Ιt is within the jury's province to determine the credibility of witnesses, Fierstos v. Cullum, 351 So.2d 370, 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), and the jury is no more required to believe a non-credible defense statement than it is required to believe any non-credible witness. Barnhill v. State, supra (the testimony was in conflict, but the jury did not believe the defendant's version of the events); Ryan v. State, supra (jury reasonably inferred that the defendant's account was "more or less a fabrication"); Woods v. State, 733 So.2d 980, 986 (Fla. 1999) ("circumstantial evidence rule does not require the jury to believe the defendant's version of the facts where the State has produced conflicting evidence"); Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994) (jury was not required to believe defendant's testimony that he accidentally shot the victim).

Here, the defendant stated to police that the victim had attacked him with a knife, that there was a struggle, and that while he held the victim from behind, the victim had stabbed himself *twice* in the neck, killing himself. Morrison's statement

that the victim had stabbed himself, however, defies common sense.¹⁵ Morrison's further contention that the wounds were minor because the "most severe injury" was not even deep enough to sever major blood vessels (Initial Brief of Appellant at 90), is belied by the testimony. There were two major knife wounds to the victim's neck. One was an incised wound from left to right across the victim's neck. It is true that this wound, which looked "bad," did not go "deep" enough to sever the jugular veins or carotid artery (V15T806). But is hardly a minor wound. Furthermore, the other wound was a stab wound that was four and three quarters of an inch long; in inflicting this wound, Morrison not only cut the victim's esophagus, but also actually nicked the vertebrae in the victim's neck (V15T807, 812). This was a "deep, long wound" (V15T807) to a vital spot, sufficiently injurious to cause the victim to drown in his own blood (V15T810). The jury was amply justified in concluding that it demonstrated Morrison's intent to kill. Jiminez v. State, 703 So.2d 437, 440 (Fla. 1997) (deliberate use of a knife to stab a victim multiple times in vital organs, alone, is evidence that can support a finding of premeditation).

But, Morrison argues, the killing was not preplanned, but was the result of the victim's "spontaneous and unexpected" assault on Morrison. However, there were minimal signs of any struggle; the

¹⁵ Morrison's own defense expert testified at the penalty phase that there was "no way" the victim's wounds were self inflicted (V16T1154).

few superficial abrasions that were present in addition to the two major knife wounds were consistent with the victim being held from behind in a head lock, stabbed twice in the neck, and the being dropped onto the floor.

In fact, Morrison's whole claim of having been attacked by the victim borders on the ridiculous. The victim was over 80 years old and severely disabled. His left arm was atrophied to the point that it was barely more than a club. He could not use this arm at all. His right leg was also deformed and atrophied. He could barely walk or even stand; he shook so much he could not even sign his own name. He could not even bathe or dress without assistance. Based on the evidence presented, the jury was entitled to reject Morrison's claim that he had acted in self defense and that the victim had stabbed himself.

Furthermore, even if Morrison had not intended to kill when he first entered the apartment, the jury was entitled to conclude that he "deliberately determined to kill before inflicting the mortal wound," <u>Lowe v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and that this intent existed for such time as to have allowed Morrison "to be conscious of the nature of the act [he] was about to commit and the probable result of the act." <u>Buckner v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. As the trial court noted in its sentencing order, when the court rejected the proffered mitigator that the killing was unintentional, Morrison was a regular visitor to the apartment adjacent to the victim's; had the victim survived,

he could have identified Morrison (V7R1184) . This circumstance, coupled with the nature of the wounds inflicted plus the victim's inability to defend himself, belie any claim that the killing was unintentional or that Morrison was not conscious of the nature of his act or its probable result. Because reasonable jurors could reject Morrison's theory of non-premeditation and conclude that he committed premeditated murder, the trial court did not err in denying Morrison's motion for judgment of acquittal as to premeditated murder.

It must be noted that the State need not exclude all possibility of any reasonable conclusion save that of guilt. Such a standard would, in effect, require the State to prove a defendant's guilt beyond all doubt in a circumstantial-evidence case, and that is not the law of Florida. It is true that, under present law, when the State seeks to prove premeditation to the jury by circumstantial evidence, the evidence must be consistent with guilt and inconsistent with every other reasonable inference. <u>Cochran v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1989). However, it is also true that:

> [T]he question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine, and where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury verdict, the verdict will not be reversed on appeal. [Cits.] The circumstantial evidence standard does not require the jury to believe the defense version of facts on which the state has produced conflicting evidence, and the state,

as appellee, is entitled to a view of any conflicting evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict. [Cit.]

<u>Cochran v. State</u>, <u>supra</u> at 930. Furthermore, when reviewing a motion for judgment of acquittal:

It is the trial judge's proper task to <u>review</u> the evidence to determine the presence or absence of competent evidence from which the jury could infer guilt to the exclusion of all other inferences. That view of the evidence must be taken in the light most favorable to the state. [Cit.] The state is not required to "rebut conclusively every possible variation" of events which could be inferred from the evidence, but only to introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's theory of events.

State v. Law, 559 So.2d 187, 189 (Fla. 1989). Furthermore,

If there is room for a difference of opinion between reasonable people as to the proof or facts from which an ultimate fact is to be established, or where there is room for such differences on the inferences to be drawn from conceded facts, the court should submit the case to the jury.

<u>Taylor v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1991). For all the foregoing reasons, the trial court did not err in concluding that the evidence of premeditation was sufficient to go to the jury.

Furthermore, any error in instructing the jury as to premeditated murder was harmless as a matter of law, because the evidence sufficed to support a conviction for first degree felony murder. <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1012, 1024 (Fla. 1999); <u>Mungin v. State</u>, 689 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1995).

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